
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

CABINET DELEGATED DECISIONS

COUNCILLOR SYBIL RALPHS
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

Friday, 10 July 2020 

1 2020/09 - WAIVER OF DESIGNATED PROTECTED AREA RESTRICTIONS 
ON SHARED OWNERSHIP

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet Delegated Decisions

6 July 2020

TITLE: Waiver of Designated Protected Area 
restrictions on Shared Ownership

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor  Sybil Ralphs – The Leader

CONTACT OFFICER: Sarah Porru - Head of Regeneration

WARDS INVOLVED:

Appendices Attached – Appendix 1: Framework for delegated decision 
making process
Appendix 2: Assessment of the application from Keepmoat Homes against 

the Framework

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 This report sets out a proposed procedure for the waiver of Designated 
Protected Area restrictions on shared ownership properties, and seeks 
delegated authority for the Head of Regeneration (in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Regeneration) to either apply to Homes England for a 
waiver, or to agree a local authority waiver, in specified circumstances and at 
the request of a registered provider of social housing  or developer.

1.2 In addition, and following a request from Keepmoat Homes, the report seeks 
approval for the removal of the shared ownership protection restriction for the 
current development at Land at Ashbourne Road, Cheadle (Thorley Drive).

2. Recommendation

2.1 Delegate authority to the Head of Regeneration, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Regeneration, to approve requests to waiver Designated 
Protected Areas (DPA) restrictions, in those circumstances set out in Appendix 
1.

2.2 Approve the DPA waiver request on behalf of Aspire Housing for the shared 
ownership units at Thorley Drive, Cheadle, as set out in Appendix 2.

2.3 Authorise the submission of an application to Homes England to remove the 
DPA restrictions on any grant funded shared ownership units at Thorley Drive.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



3. Executive Summary

Under the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, the Secretary of State is 
enabled to designate ‘Protected Areas’, with the aim of ensuring that shared 
ownership properties can be retained in rural locations where they would be 
difficult to replace if stock is lost through sales.

 
3.2 Where a development site lies within an area designated under the 

Designated Protected Areas (DPA) Order, occupiers of shared ownership 
homes are prevented from buying 100% of their property at some future date 
(stair-casing).  A Registered Provider granting a shared ownership lease must, 
if the scheme is grant-funded, include one of two DPA fundamental clauses, 
either to:

 restrict equity share to a maximum of 80%; or
 ensure that if the owner does staircase to 100% equity, the registered 

provider commits to purchase the property back at any future re-sale.

3.3 Large areas of land have been designated as DPA across the whole of the 
Staffordshire Moorlands area. This includes land surrounding Leek, Cheadle, 
and Biddulph and the majority of larger / smaller villages.  Being within a DPA 
has an impact on the ability of registered providers to secure funding to deliver 
S106 affordable housing contributions, as well as development sites wholly for 
affordable housing. While the regulations1 only impact on shared ownership 
properties, this type of intermediate housing provides a vital stepping stone 
into allowing lower income households onto the property ladder.  

3.4 Whilst the government has introduced regulations to protect shared ownership 
dwellings in areas where it may be difficult to re-provide such properties, the 
issue has become an area of growing concern for registered providers.  Key 
concerns are that within a DPA:

 It can be more difficult for purchasers to obtain a mortgage.
 An RP may not have the financial ability to guarantee to buy back 

properties as required by the shared ownership lease, if the leaseholder 
wishes to sell.

3.5 The government has acknowledged that in some circumstances it may not be 
appropriate to impose the DPA restrictions, and on grant funded units has 
agreed that in certain circumstances, on application by the local authority, 
Homes England can waive the particular conditions of grant relating to 
the DPA status of a site.  Where a waiver is granted, the RP can grant shared- 
ownership leases without the requirement to include one of the 
two DPA clauses, however all other conditions of grant remain.

3.6 On sites where there is no grant funding, the Local Authority is able to issue a 
waiver.

1 the Housing (Shared Ownership Leases) (Exclusion from Leasehold Reform Act 1967) (England) 
Regulations 2009

Page 4



3.7 In order to reduce delay in considering applications from RPs for a waiver, and   
to ensure a transparent decision making process, a framework for deciding 
applications is proposed and set out as Appendix 1.  This report seeks 
authorisation to delegate decision making on the waiver of restrictions of stair-
casing to the Head of Regeneration, (in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Regeneration) and to support the grant of a waiver where it has been 
demonstrated that the three tests have been met. 

3.8 Aspire Housing has approached the Council to request the restrictions be lifted 
for ten non grant funded units and a further nine shared ownership properties 
which will be funded through the Homes England Shared Ownership 
Affordable Homes Programme (SOAHP).  The application is considered 
against the three proposed tests, with the evidence set out as Appendix 2.  
According to the proposed framework the Council would be in a position to 
support this application.  

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1  The accelerated housing delivery programme contributes to the following 
aims of the Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023:

• Aim 1: To help create a safer and healthier environment for our 
communities to live and work

• Aim 3: To help create a strong economy by supporting further 
regeneration of towns and villages.  

5. Alternative Options

5.1 Option 1: Recommended. This option is to support the approval of delegated 
authority to the Head of Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Regeneration to enable the Council to issue waivers and submit DPA 
waivers to Homes England.

5.2 Where shared ownership retention is a less significant issue due to the nature 
of the development site, the removal of the condition helps the registered 
provider deliver the affordable units by removing the DPA restrictions therefore 
enabling prospective purchasers access to a wider range of mortgages and 
mortgage providers.

5.3 The Head of Regeneration, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration, will consider an application against three key tests. These are 
shown in appendix 1.

5.4 Option 2: Not Recommended. This option is to note, but decline to give 
delegated approval to The Head of Regeneration and the Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration, the ability to support registered providers’ requests for DPA 
waivers. This option would fail to provide a speedy response to a registered 
provider’s request which could result in a bid for funding or a bid to a 

Page 5



prospective developer not being submitted. This could ultimately impact on the 
registered provider’s ability to deliver the affordable units.  

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
No implications

6.2 Workforce
Staff time from Regeneration and Legal would be required to 
prepare the waivers. 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s 
Diversity and Equalities policies

6.4 Financial Considerations
None 

6.5 Legal

This report requests authority to delegate responsibility in respect 
of waiving ‘designated protected areas status’, or making 
applications to Homes England in respect of the same. Any 
delegation should be set out in the Council’s constitution, and 
decisions made under the delegation should be made according to 
the same criteria to ensure a consistent approach. 

6.6 Climate Change
The emerging Local Plan and the Growth Strategy for Staffordshire 
Moorlands are prepared with wider sustainability and climate 
change considerations taken into account.  The delivery of new 
homes will deliver Local Plan policies and key priorities of the 
Growth Strategy.

6.7 Consultation
None 

6.8 Risk Assessment
None

Neil Rodgers
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Sarah Porru
Head of Regeneration
sarah.porru@highpeak.gov.uk

6.4

Page 6



7. Detail

7.1 7.1 If the affordable housing element of a development includes shared 
ownership, and a development site is in a Designated Protected Area (DPA) 
(see paragraph 7.3), then the registered provider (RP) granting the shared 
ownership leases will, if the properties form part of their grant-funded 
programme, have to include certain clauses in the shared ownership leases, 
which seek to ensure the preservation of the properties for shared ownership 
indefinitely.

7.2 Under a shared ownership lease, the shared owner will acquire a 'share' of the 
property and pay rent on the rest, which remains in the ownership of 
the RP landlord. The shared ownership lease entitles the shared owner to 
purchase additional shares in the property (known as staircasing), until they 
own 100% and they have 'staircased out'. Once the shared owner has 
staircased out, they can dispose of the property freely, out of the affordable 
housing sector, on the open market.

7.3 Sections 300 - 302 of the Housing & Regeneration Act 2008, which came into 
effect on 7th September 2009, enabled the Secretary of State to designate 
‘Protected Areas’, ensuring shared ownership properties can be retained in 
rural locations where they would be difficult to replace if any stock is lost 
through sales.

7.4 The effect of the Designated Protected Areas Order (DPA) is to prevent 
occupiers of shared ownership homes within protected areas from buying 
100% of the property at some future date (stair-casing); instead they can only 
buy a maximum of 80%, meaning that the property remains in shared 
ownership in perpetuity, or as an alternative the shared-owner can purchase 
100%, but the registered provider makes a commitment to purchase the 
property back upon resale.

7.5 Whilst the government has introduced these regulations to protect shared 
ownership dwellings in areas where they may be difficult to re-provide, it 
provides an area of concern for registered providers as it can impact on their 
ability to finance the purchase of dwellings through section 106 agreements  
and those funded through Homes England Shared Ownership Affordable 
Homes Programme (SOAHP). Shared ownership schemes are an integral to 
the government’s objective to deliver more affordable homes and increase 
home ownership. 

Protected Rural Area Designation in Staffordshire Moorlands

7.6 The legislation lists both whole parishes (Schedule 1) that are entirely a DPA 
and parishes partially covered by a Designated Protected Area (Schedule 2). 

7.7 The whole parishes classified as Designated Protected Areas are:

Page 7



Alstonefield Alton Bagnall
Blore with Swinscoe Bradnop Butteron
Caverswall Checkley Consall
Cotton Dilhorne Draycott in the 

Moors
Farley Fawfieldhead (PP) Grindon (PP)
Heathylee (PP) Heaton (mixed) Hollinsclough (PP)
Horton Iiam (PP) Ipstone
Kingsley Leekfirth (mixed) Longnor (PP)
Longsdon Oakamoor Onecote (PP)
Quarnford (PP) Rushton Sheen (PP)
Tittlesworth Warslow and Elkstones Waterhouses 

(mixed)
Wetton (PP)
* (PP): Parish within the Peak District National Park 
* (Mixed): Parishes that straddle both SMDC and PDNPA 

7.8 The partial parishes classified as Designated Protected Areas are:

Biddulph Brown Edge
Cheadle Cheddleton
Edon and Stanley Forsbrook
Leek Werrington 

7.9 Large areas of land have been designated as DPA across the district. This will 
impact on a registered provider’s ability to secure funding to deliver S106 
affordable housing contributions, along with sites wholly for affordable 
housing. While the regulations only impact on shared ownership properties, 
this type of intermediate housing provides a vital stepping stone into allowing 
lower income households onto the property ladder.  

7.10 Although the DPA restrictions came into effect in 2009, it is only now that the 
full implications have been recognised. This is mainly due to the fact that 
larger emerging Local Plan sites outside the development boundary are 
starting to deliver homes. 

Strategic Implications

7.11 The government states that the new regulations will provide an environment 
which is designed to have a positive impact on the provision and retention of 
shared ownership houses by:

 Enabling greater certainty for strategic housing authorities that proposals 
for shared ownership homes in areas with identified need, where 
opportunities to build are scarce, can be brought forward without the risk of 
those homes being lost to the open market. 

 Enabling greater certainty for providers and lenders that there will no 
longer be a risk of financial loss due to the regulations providing exemption 
from the risk of early enfranchisement.

Page 8



 Enabling greater choice for households because of a wider range of 
providers developing shared ownership homes due to the mitigation of the 
risk from early enfranchisement for all providers

 Enabling an increase in the availability of land due to landowners having 
greater assurances that the homes will be retained as affordable in 
perpetuity.  

7.12 However evidence from registered providers suggests that the restrictions 
instead can have a negative impact and stifle development by leading to:

 Lack of mortgage availability
 Negative impact on demand from potential purchasers
 Impact on financial viability rendering schemes unviable
 Financial Implications of the buy back requirement for RPs

Waivers 

7.13 In response to these concerns, the government has enabled Homes England 
to waiver the grant conditions relating to DPA status under certain conditions. 
This enables providers to develop grant funded shared ownership schemes on 
sites that allow buyers to staircase to 100% without an obligation on the 
provider to buy back the property, should the leaseholder wish to sell. 

7.14 The relaxation specifically relates to Homes England’s grant conditions for 
shared ownership homes. It does not relate to rural exception sites or S106 
agreements.  Where schemes are not funded, Homes England have advised 
that it is for Local Authorities to consider and implement lifting restrictions. 
They state it is up to the authority through their planning policy to consider if 
they do not wish to impose stair-casing restrictions or whether the restrictions 
are not required.

7.15 The potential waiver of Designated Protected Area restrictions on shared 
ownership properties was not an issue raised during the preparation of the 
emerging Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan.  It is thus proposed to seek 
delegated authority to consider applications for waiver on a case by case 
basis.  A process for doing this is set out below.

Framework

7.16 When a registered provider requests a waiver, Officers will assess the 
application against three key tests, in line with the decision making framework 
shown in appendix 1.  A report will be prepared for the Head of Regeneration 
and Cabinet Member with responsibility for Regeneration.  If it has been 
demonstrated that a minimum of two of the three key tests have been met by 
the application, the waiver can be granted.

7.17 The proposed delegation will enable a timely response to the registered 
provider so they can submit a bid to a developer to purchase the affordable 
homes and it will enable transparency, offering certainty as to whether a 
waiver would be supported.

Page 9



Aspire Housing – Thorley Drive, Cheadle

7.18 Aspire Housing are actively working on a number of sites in the District and 
have approached the Council to request an exemption for the shared 
ownership properties at Thorley Drive, Cheadle. 

7.19 Aspire Housing are working with the developer Keepmoat to deliver 10 non 
grant funded units secured through a S106 agreement and a further 9 units 
which will be funded through Homes England Shared Ownership Affordable 
Homes Programme.  The application has been assessed against the three key 
tests and the outcome is presented as Appendix 2.

7.20 According to the decision making framework proposed in appendix 1, it is 
recommended that the site at Thorley Drive, Cheadle would be suitable for the 
DPA restrictions to be lifted and the waiver should be granted. Cheadle is an 
urban area, the emerging Local Plan allocates residential housing sites in the 
area and further shared ownership homes are likely to be forthcoming. 

Appendix 1

Framework for delegated decision on formal support for DPA Waiver

Page 10



When an application is received to waiver the restrictions of stair-casing on shared 
ownership properties for a scheme in a Designated Protected Area, the application 
will be reviewed by the Head of Regeneration, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member with responsibility for Regeneration.  

The Council authorises that the application can be approved if it has been 
demonstrated that a minimum of two of the following three key tests has been met. 

Test 1: Rural / urban nature of site location
 The site is predominantly urban, located in or adjacent to a settlement or 

larger village with over 3,000 population.  It is not a Rural Exceptions 
site.

(Designated Protected Areas are predominantly identified for rural locations with a 
population of under 3,000.  A waiver is likely to be refused on a Rural Exceptions 
site unless exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated in relation to Tests 2 
and 3.)

Test 2: Local availability of shared ownership properties
 There will continue to be a supply of shared ownership properties in the 

local area (when the restriction is lifted), and levels of existing or 
proposed development indicate that shared ownership homes would not 
be hard to replace.

(Designated Protected Areas are to enable shared ownership properties to be 
retained in rural locations where they would be difficult to replace if any stock is 
lost through sales.)

Test 3: Financial viability of the scheme
 Applying the DPA to the scheme would be a barrier to developing the 

site out. 

(If SMDC is not willing to waiver the DPA, it should be considered whether the 
registered provider would be able to proceed with its offer.  Relevant evidence 
includes the RP’s view on the availability of mortgages in the event that shared 
ownership homes have restricted stair-casing; and whether the RP has confirmed 
that they can make a financial commitment to buy-back all the properties as an 
alternative.)

Where it can be demonstrated that at minimum of two of the three tests are met, a 
waiver should be granted.

Page 11



Appendix 2

Consideration of the application made by Aspire Housing – 
Thorley Drive, Cheadle

Summary of application

Aspire housing are working with Keepmoat to deliver 7 rent and 3 shared ownership 
affordable homes secured through a S106 agreement on the Thorley Drive site. In 
addition they are working to secure a further 9 shared ownership homes on the same 
site, which will be funded through the Homes England Shared Ownership Affordable 
Homes Programme (SOAHP). The waiver for the 3 units will be issued by the council, 
and an application to Homes England to waiver the DPA on the grant funded units 
will be made by the council on behalf of Aspire. 

Consideration against the framework

Test Evidence Has the test 
been met

Test 1: 
Rural / urban nature of site 
location:

The site is predominantly urban, 
located in or adjacent to a 
settlement or larger village with a 
population of over 3,000.  It is not 
a Rural Exceptions site.

The site adjoins the development 
boundary of Cheadle.  Cheadle 
has a population of 12,170  (2011 
cenus)

Yes

Test 2: 
Local availability of shared 
ownership properties

There will continue to be a supply 
of shared ownership properties in 
the local area (when the 
restriction is lifted), and levels of 
existing or proposed 
development indicate that shared 
ownership homes would not be 
hard to replace.

The Ascent development 
programme delivered 25 shared 
ownership properties in Cheadle.

The emerging Local Plan 
allocates residential housing sites 
in the area and further shared 
ownership homes are likely to be 
forthcoming.

Yes

Test 3: 
Financial viability of the scheme

Applying the DPA to the scheme 
would be a barrier to developing 
the site out.

Keepmoat Homes have 
contacted the Council to notify 
that they are in the process of 
starting up all of their sites and 
are pushing for Board Approval to 
start on site at Cheadle. One of 
the key elements of starting back 
on sites for Keepmoat is that any 
site start must have an 
exchanged contract with an RP 
partner. On the Cheadle site they 

Yes

Page 12



are ready to exchange contracts 
with Aspire, however the Shared 
Ownership Rural Protection issue 
is halting the contract exchange. 
The urgency of removing this 
restriction is very much essential 
to allowing the site to be started 
as soon as possible

Conclusion

Aspire have demonstrated that all three of the tests have been met, therefore I would 
recommend that I waiver should be granted.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Waiver of Designated Protected Area restrictions on Shared Ownership

